Health needs assessment of asylum seekers and refugees in Lancashire

April 2017 Dr Alberto Mateo, Specialty Trainee in Public Health



www.lancashire.gov.uk

Contents

List of figures

List of tables

Acknowledgements

Executive summary

Introduction Objectives Methods Asylum picture in Lancashire Findings Recommendations

Introduction

Aim and objectives

Aim Objectives

Methods

UK asylum process and definitions

Key terms The asylum process Entitlements of asylum seekers, failed asylum seekers and refugees

Asylum and migration

The global picture Host countries The national picture Asylum Process and Outcome The regional picture The local picture

Literature Review

Mental Health Communicable Diseases Women's Health Non-communicable Diseases Wider Determinants of Health

Current Service Provision

Communication and collaboration between agencies that are involved in the care of asylum seekers Housing Primary Care Secondary care access Mental Health Wider determinants of health

Limitations

Discussion and Recommendations

Recommendations

References

Appendices

Appendix 1 Appendix 2

Initial application Asylum screening Asylum interview Outcome

Appendix 3

Accommodation Cash Support Employment Healthcare access

Appendix 4 Appendix 5

List of figures

Figure 1. The asylum process
Figure 2. Refugees by country of origin, 2015
Figure 3. Major refugee-hosting countries in the world (2015)
Figure 4. Total refugees by hosting-region. 2015
Figure 5. Asylum applications by country of origin, 2015
Figure 6. Asylum applications by country of asylum, 2015
Figure 7. Number of non-EU asylum seekers in the EU, 2014-2015
Figure 8. Total asylum applications in the UK over the last 30 years
Figure 9 Asylum applications by country of nationality in the UK, 2015
Figure 10. Age-distribution of asylum seekers, 2015
Figure 11. Outcomes for asylum applications processed in the UK, 2015
Figure 12. Total asylum claims accepted by type of grant
Figure 13. Asylum seekers under section 95 support in the North West, by country of origin, 2016
Figure 14. Asylum seekers under Section 95 support in each district authority, 2011-201625
Figure 15. Asylum seekers accommodated in Lancashire County Council, February 201726
Figure 16. Estimated Tuberculosis incidence rates across the world in 2014. WHO 29

List of tables

Table 1. List of stakeholders approached to carry out the HNA.	. 10
Table 2. Entitlements of asylum seekers, failed asylum seekers and refugees	. 14
Table 3. Asylum seekers as a proportion of Local Authority population. 2015	. 24
Table 4. Some of the Agencies involved in the care of asylum seekers in Lancas	

Acknowledgements

The following people have contributed to this report:

- Gillian McLauchlan, Consultant in Public Health, Lancashire County Council
- Saulo Cwerner, Equality and Cohesion Manager, Lancashire County Council
- Gemma Jones, JSNA Manager, Lancashire County Council
- Wonder Phiri, British Red Cross
- Keith Isherwood, Lancashire Care Foundation Trust
- Paul Grime, Lancashire Care Foundation Trust
- Lewis Smith-Conner, Lancashire Care Foundation Trust
- Adele Adjetey, Serco
- Joe Collett, Serco
- Kathryn Kavanagh, West Lancashire CCG
- Brenda Vernon, NHS Greater Preston & NHS Chorley & South Ribble CCG
- Joe Burne, City of Sanctuary
- Fiona Macleod, Lancaster District Council
- Fiona Goodfellow, Hyndburn District Council
- Rachel Watkin, East Lancashire CCG
- Community Volunteer Services

Executive summary

Introduction

Asylum seekers are individuals who have left their country of origin fleeing from violence, torture or prosecution, and have formally applied for asylum in another country.

In the UK, the number of people seeking asylum has increased in the last five years due to new armed conflicts and the deterioration of humanitarian conditions in different parts of the world. The Home Office processes all asylum claims. If the claim is successful, the asylum seeker is granted with refugee status and is allowed to remain in the UK for five years. If the claim is unsuccessful, the asylum seeker is generally expected to leave the UK, or may be removed from the country

The asylum claim process can last from weeks to years. During this time, asylum seekers are accommodated in different parts of the country whilst they wait for their claim to be completed. All 12 district authorities that form part of Lancashire County Council (LCC) have agreed to take part in the dispersal scheme and already host asylum seekers.

Objectives

No Health Needs Assessments have been carried out since Lancashire County Council started to accommodate asylum seekers. The aim of the report is to provide information to the relevant stakeholders around the met and unmet health needs of asylum seekers living in Lancashire and to suggest a set of recommendations that can improve their health and wellbeing.

Methods

This Health Needs Assessment used a range of different methods:

- 1. Data from various sources was used to draw an international, national and local picture of the asylum seeker and refugee situation.
- 2. A detailed literature search of the evidence was carried out to review the existing knowledge around the needs of asylum seekers as well as evidence-based interventions designed to meet such needs.
- 3. In order to gain insights around the current provision of service, the experiences and the challenges faced by providers and asylum seekers in Lancashire, a series of interviews with key stakeholders and asylum seekers were carried out.

Asylum picture in Lancashire

- All the asylum seekers in the North West are initially accommodated in Liverpool before being dispersed into the local authorities that participate in the dispersal scheme. All 12 district councils forming part of Lancashire County council have agreed to accommodate asylum seekers.
- Serco is the company contracted by the UK Government to provide suitable accommodation and support for asylum seekers in Lancashire County

Council. District authorities are responsible to ensure that the properties preselected by Serco meet the appropriate standards.

- Preston, West Lancashire and Lancaster are the three district councils hosting the largest number of asylum seekers.
- The majority of asylum seekers living in Lancashire are young adults and predominantly males. However, there are also an important number of women and families.
- In each district authority, third sector organisations provide different services for asylum seekers. These include weekly drop-in services, English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL), counselling, leisure activities and social support. The range of services provided is not consistent across all district authorities.
- Asylum seekers are entitled to free and full access to primary and secondary care services, including dental access and free prescriptions. They are, however, not normally entitled to work in the UK whilst their claim is being processed.

Findings

- Current evidence suggests asylum seekers are at increased risk of mental health issues; certain communicable and non-communicable diseases; and at increased risk of social isolation.
- The majority of the asylum seekers interviewed expressed satisfaction with housing, the services available and the response of the community in Lancashire.
- Once asylum seekers arrive to their accommodation in Lancashire, they are informed by Serco where to find and how to access local community and health services. However, during the interviews, asylum seekers often expressed a lack of knowledge around how to access primary and secondary healthcare services. They also described being refused registration and/or provision of service in local healthcare services.
- The results of this needs assessment suggest that barriers in accessing mental health services include: asylum seekers not willing to seek help; lack of systems in place to recognise signs of mental health disorders in asylum seekers; front line staff lacking awareness about how mental health services are accessed; mental health services not accommodating to the needs of asylum seekers.
- Lack of entitlement to work, language barriers and public transport unaffordability were identified as factors that put asylum seekers at risk of social isolation.
- Once the asylum claim is completed, asylum seekers are given 28 days to vacate the property where they are accommodated. Stakeholders and asylum seekers perceived that it was not possible for the claimants to obtain the income needed to find accommodation elsewhere. They felt that this short notice period put asylum seekers at risk of homelessness and destitution. As

a result, the majority of asylum seekers leave Lancashire for big urban centres.

Recommendations

- Serco needs to ensure that all asylum seekers understand where, when and how they can access primary and secondary care services, including sexual health services.
- Commissioners of primary healthcare services need to ensure that providers are aware of the entitlement of asylum seekers to full and free access to their services. They also need ensure that providers arrange high quality translation services, following the advice of NHS England and the GMC.
- Mental health services need to be accessible to asylum seekers. Awareness of the high levels of mental health issues needs to be improved in Commissioners and providers.
- Finding ways of offering systematic and consistent ESOL classes for asylum seekers needs to be explored through collaboration of district authorities, Lancashire County Council and third sector organisations
- Lancashire County Council, in collaboration with the third sector, needs to explore ways of offering affordable and accessible public transport to asylum seekers whilst their claim is being processed.
- Lancashire County Council, the third sector and Serco need to work together in developing a support network that protects asylum seekers from destitution once their claim has been completed and are required to leave their accommodation.

Introduction

Recent armed conflicts, particularly in Syria and Ukraine, in addition to the deterioration of humanitarian conditions in other countries, have resulted in a sharp increase of the number of people fleeing their country to seek asylum elsewhere (1). This global phenomenon has had its echo in Lancashire. Here, like in the rest of England's North West, the number of asylum seekers has increased significantly over the last three years.

Asylum seekers and refugees living in Lancashire have often witnessed or suffered violence, torture and war; they live in an unknown foreign country and they are frequently separated from friends and family. These adversities have an impact on their wellbeing, making them a particularly vulnerable group.

This vulnerability, alongside the fact that asylum seekers (AS) and refugees are socially, culturally and demographically different from the local population, result in a set of unique health and social needs, which are often unfamiliar to the stakeholders involved in the provision of care.

This Health Needs Assessment aims to identify the specific needs of asylum seekers and refugees in Lancashire, how these needs are being met and what areas for improvement exist. The information can help stakeholders to be better informed and more prepared to address their needs.

Aim and objectives

Aim

The aim of this health needs assessment is to provide detailed information on the health and wellbeing needs of asylum seekers and refugees in the 12 districts of Lancashire. To outline potential interventions that can help to improve outcomes.

Objectives

- 1. Conduct a literature review to identify the health and wellbeing needs of asylum seekers and refugees; to identify evidence-based interventions targeted to meet such needs.
- 2. Describe the international, national and local pictures of asylum seekers and refugees.
- 3. Identify and analyse the met and unmet needs of asylum seekers and refugees in Lancashire by interviewing key informants.
- 4. Make evidence-based recommendations aimed to improve the health and wellbeing of asylum seekers and refugees in Lancashire

Methods

Different methods were used to complete this Health Needs Assessment.

An online literature search was carried out before meeting the stakeholders in order to review the existing evidence regarding the health and wellbeing needs of asylum seekers and refugees. The search strategy and other methodological details can be found in Appendix 1.

The data used in this report was obtained through different sources. Data used to describe the international situation of asylum seekers was gathered from the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR). National and local data was obtained through the Office for National Statistics (ONS), which provide quarterly reports on immigration statistics, asylum seekers applications and data on asylum seekers under Section 95 support at a Local Authority level.

Additionally, the North West Regional Strategic Migration Partnership and Serco hold data about asylum seekers at local authority and ward levels, including demographic characteristics and geospatial data. However, this data has not been included in the report. Including such data could have been useful for the agencies involved in the care of asylum seekers and for public health professionals that want to compare their local picture with the one in Lancashire. Nevertheless, publication of detailed data about asylum seekers at small geographic areas (e.g. electoral wards), compromises confidentiality. In the current climate, where the arrival of asylum seekers is a controversial issue and is often displayed negatively by some media, the Home Office considers that such data should not be publicly available.

In order to gain insights around the situation of asylum seekers in Lancashire, how their needs are being met and the challenges faced by the different agencies, interviews with different stakeholders as well as asylum seekers were held (See Table 1).

Organisation	Area
Lancashire Care Foundation Trust	All 12-districts
Serco	All 12-districts
Lancashire County Council	All-12 districts
Lancaster District Council	Lancaster
City of Sanctuary	Lancaster
Hyndburn District Council	Hyndburn
East Lancashire CCG	Hyndburn
Chorley and South Ribble CCG	Chorley and South Ribble
British Red Cross	Preston
West Lancashire CCG	West Lancashire
Community Volunteer Services (CVS)	West Lancashire

Stakeholders and asylum seekers provided qualitative information on the positive experiences, challenges and supported the identification of key areas of need for asylum seekers living in Lancashire.

UK asylum process and definitions

Key terms

The words "asylum seeker", "refugee" and "migrant" are sometimes used interchangeably by the press, the public and some organisations (2). However, they have different meanings, thereby the importance of explaining and defining the concepts that this health needs assessment is going to cover, in order to share a common language that avoids confusion.

Asylum seeker: According to the 1951 United Nations (UN) an asylum seeker is a person who enters a country in order to claim asylum and who has the claim assessed through an asylum process.

In the UK, according to the *Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002,* a person should meet the following criteria to be classified as asylum seeker:

- The person should be over 18 years old
- The person should be in the United Kingdom
- The person should have made an asylum claim at a place designated by the Secretary of State
- The secretary of state should have recorded the claim
- The claim should not have been determined

Failed asylum seeker: This is an informal term that refers to those asylum seekers whose claims and appeals have been rejected; they are sometimes referred to as 'refused asylum seekers'

Refugee: The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) defines a refugee as someone who "owing to a well-founded fear of being persecuted for reasons of race, religion, nationality, membership of a particular social group, or political opinion, is outside the country of his nationality, and is unable to or, owing to such fear, is unwilling to avail himself of the protection of that country..." (3).

In the UK, an asylum seeker is granted "refugee status" (also known as "leave to remain") if their asylum claim is successful or if they are granted the status for humanitarian reasons (4). The refugee status gives the individual the same rights of a UK citizen, being allowed to live and work in the country for a period of five years, after which the refugee would have to apply for indefinite leave to remain.

Resettled refugees: Refugees that have been resettled in the UK under one of the various resettlement programmes, such as the Syrian Resettlement programme. Under this programme, the Home Office intends to resettle 20,000 Syrian refugees in the next five years (2015-2020) (5).

Migrant: Someone that lives in a country where was not born and that creates social ties with such country (6).

Economic Migrant: Also known as migrant workers, are defined by the UN as individuals who "are to be engaged, are engaged or have been engaged in a remunerated activity in a State of which he or she is not a national" (7).

Therefore, an economic migrant differs from a migrant in that the specific objective of living in a foreign country is to be engaged in paid work. Both, economic and non-economic migrants, unlike asylum seekers and refugees, have not fled their country following prosecution or war.

The asylum process

Anyone at risk of being persecuted in their own country has the right to claim asylum in another country, as it is recognised by the Article 14 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (8).

In the UK, the process of asylum is regulated by international, European and British laws. It aims to last up to six months. However, the process is frequently lengthier as the Home Office recognises (9).

The asylum process is divided in different stages (Application, asylum screening, asylum interview and application outcome) summarised in Figure 1. A more detailed description of each stage can be found in the Appendix 2.





Entitlements of asylum seekers, failed asylum seekers and refugees

During the asylum seeking process, claimants are entitled to different degrees of financial support, accommodation and other services such as healthcare access. These entitlements vary between asylum seekers, failed asylum seekers and refugees. Key similarities and differences have been summarised in Table 2. A more detail explanation of the entitlements can be found in Appendix 3.

Table 2. Entitlements of asylum seekers, failed asylum seekers and refugees.

	Asylum Seekers	Failed Asylum seekers	Refugees
Accommodation	Yes	Yes	No
Cash support	36.95£ per week	35.93£ per week	Eligible to apply for mainstream welfare benefits
Employment	No right to work	No right to work	Right to work
State School	Same rights than any other children	Same rights than any other children	Same rights than any other children
GP access	Free	Free	Free
Secondary Care access	Free	Free	Free
Dental care access	Free	Free	Same rules than UK citizens
Prescriptions	Free	Free	Same rules than UK citizens

Syrian Refugee Resettlement Programme (SRP)

The UK government agreed to resettle 20,000 Syrian refugees in the UK between 2015 and 2020. At the time of this report, the first Syrian refugees were arriving to Lancashire under the programme.

The refugees coming under this programme come directly from Syria's neighbouring countries. The government aim is to include in the programme those refugees who are in the most vulnerable position. To do so, the UNHCR assesses and sends the Home Office a list of suitable candidates.

Once the Home Office agrees the inclusion of a refugee in the programme, the International Organisation for Migration (IOM) carries out a full medical assessment of the refugee.

After the medical assessment, the refugees are brought from the refugee camps into the UK and accommodated in the Local Authorities that have agreed to take part in the scheme, including Lancashire County Council.

The Local Authorities and the Clinical Commissioning Groups receive an agreed budget for each refugee that is resettled in their area. The money helps to support and develop services aimed to meet the health and social needs of this group. In Lancashire, a local planning information group was set up in Lancashire to coordinate the response to the SRP. These differences in the process mean that the socio-demographic characteristics of these refugees are very different from the asylum seeker population.

For these reasons, this report focused on the asylum seekers and refugees that did not arrive to Lancashire under the Syrian resettlement programme.

Asylum and migration

The global picture

In 2015, the world witnessed the highest levels of forced displacement since World War II. The UNHCR estimates that a total of 65.3 million people were forcibly displaced (10), making the displaced population larger than UK's population¹.

Out of the 65.3 million displaced, 16.1 million are classified as refugees². A figure that has also increased over the last two decades.

This increase in the number of refugees is a consequence of new and worsening conflicts in several parts of the world.



Figure 2. Refugees by country of origin, 2015

Source: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (21).

population also includes people in a refugee-like situation (61).

¹ UK population was in 2015 65.1 million, according to ONS 2015 mid-year estimates (<u>http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates</u>) ² Refugees include individuals recognised under the 1951 Convention relating to the Status of Refugees; its 1967 Protocol; the 1969 OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa; those recognised in accordance with the UNHCR Statute; individuals granted complementary forms of protection; or those enjoying temporary protection. Since 2007, the refugee

The refugee crisis affects every continent. In the middle-east, particularly relevant is the civil war affecting the Syrian Arab Republic, which has pushed almost 5 million Syrians to seek refuge elsewhere since the conflict started five years ago.

Syria is, however, not the only source of refugees, as Figure 2 shows.

In Asia, the worsening of the security situation in Afghanistan has caused a sharp increase in the number of refugees over recent years.

Sub-Saharan Africa is also an area where humanitarian crises affecting Somalia, South Sudan and the Central African Republic, amongst others, have caused millions of displacements.

In Europe, the Eastern Ukrainian conflict has caused the displacement of thousands of Ukrainians to neighbourhood countries, particularly Russia, although the number of displaced individuals has decreased in 2015 compared with the previous year (11).

Finally, in Central and South America, gang-related violence and drug-cartels have caused the displacement of hundreds of thousands of people in the last years.

Host countries

The millions of refugees who are forced to leave their country are hosted by different nations, though very often is the neighbouring countries that host the vast majority of them (See Figure 3). For instance, Turkey hosts 2.5 million Syrian refugees. Similarly, Pakistan, gives shelter to over 1.5 million refugees, a majority of which are Afghans, making the country the second major hosting-country for refugees.



Figure 3. Major refugee-hosting countries in the world (2015).

Source: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (21).

Although Europe has seen a significant increase in the number of refugees trying to reach the continent, it is estimated that around 83% of refugees live in developing countries (21), most of which are in Asia and Africa (See Figure 4).



Figure 4. Total refugees by hosting-region. 2015

Source: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (21).

It is important to differentiate between those who hold refugee status and those who are classified as "asylum seekers" and are waiting for their application to be processed, as their demographic characteristics and countries of origin are often very different (See Figure 5). These differences are due to variation in the political policies and in the regulations related to refugees, which differ from country to country.

In some cases, like Pakistan, a country may host a large number of refugees and at the same time be one of the most important sources of asylum seekers.



Figure 5. Asylum applications by country of origin, 2015

Source: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (21).

The countries where asylum seekers seek protection are also very different to the countries where refugees are hosted. Whilst most refugees are hosted in developing countries, the majority of asylum seekers seek protection in Europe and the United States (See Figure 6).

Figure 6. Asylum applications by country of asylum, 2015.



Source: United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) (21).

In summary, the number of refugees and asylum seekers have sharply increased in the last decades. Refugees and asylum seekers flee countries affected by violence, conflicts and deterioration of humanitarian conditions. Whilst refugees are mostly hosted in developing countries in Asia and Africa, the majority of asylum applications are filed in Europe and North America.

The national picture

The global situation has had an impact on the UK. Although it receives less asylum applications than many other EU countries (Figure 7), these claims have increased in the last years (Figure 8).



Figure 7. Number of non-EU asylum seekers in the EU, 2014-2015

Source: EuroStats (63).



Figure 8. Total asylum applications in the UK over the last 30 years

Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (64).

The origin of asylum seekers vary from country to country, including inside the European Union. For example, most of the new asylum applications in Germany are from Syrians (2). On the contrary, in the UK there were more applicants from Eritrea, Iran and Sudan during 2015 (Figure 9).



Figure 9. . Asylum applications by country of nationality in the UK, 2015.

With regards to the demographic characteristics of the asylum applicants, the vast majority of them were young adults aged between 20 and 35 years old (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Age-distribution of asylum seekers, 2015.

Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (64).

In relation to gender, 80% of the claimants were male. However, although a lower proportion of applicants are females, in 2015 alone 6,788 women claimed asylum in the UK, many of them being in a vulnerable situation.

Unaccompanied children are another particularly vulnerable group. During 2015, the UK filed last year 3,253 applications from this group.

Asylum Process and Outcome

The asylum process that takes places when a claim is filed in the UK has the purpose of discriminating those who, according to the 1951 UN convention, are refugees from those who are not. In that context, thousands of asylum applications are rejected each year. In 2015, a total of 28,622 applications were given a final decision in the UK, the majority of which were refusals (See Figure 11).



Figure 11. Outcomes for asylum applications processed in the UK, 2015

Some asylum applicants that do not qualify for refugee status are occasionally granted humanitarian protection or discretionary leave to stay. Data suggest, however, that the vast majority of those who had a positive claim outcome were granted with refugee status (See Figure 12).

Figure 12. Total asylum claims accepted by type of grant.



Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (64).

Those

with

Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (64).

humanitarian protection status or discretionary leave to remain are allowed to stay in the UK, but their status differs from those who are classified as "refugees". Key differences can be found in Appendix 4.

In summary, the number of asylum claimants in the UK has increased recently. They come from various countries and, although the majority are young males, an important proportion of women and minors claim asylum each year.

It is also important to emphasise that the majority of claims are rejected, leaving large numbers of people in a vulnerable and irregular situation.

The regional picture

The North West of England has traditionally hosted more asylum seekers and refugees compared with other regions. The demographic characteristics of those accommodated in the region differs from the national picture. For example, the proportion of asylum seekers from a Pakistani origin is higher than the national average (See Figure 13).

Figure 13. Asylum seekers under section 95 support in the North West, by country of origin, 2016.



Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (64).

Not all local authorities within the North West accommodate the same number of asylum seekers, with areas like Manchester and Liverpool hosting the largest number. By contrast, during 2015, Lancashire accommodated a relatively small number of asylum seekers (See Table 3).

In spite of the differences observed between local authorities, the data summarised in Table xxx suggests that asylum seekers do not account for more than 0.5% of the local population in any of the Local Authorities located in the North West of England.

Local Authority	Asylum seekers ³	Population	%
Rochdale	1,085	214,195	0.50655
Bolton	1,049	281,619	0.37249
Liverpool	1,561	478,580	0.32617
Salford	753	245,614	0.30658
Oldham	684	230,823	0.29633
Wigan	847	322,022	0.26303
Bury	485	187,884	0.25814
Blackburn with Darwen	330	146,846	0.22473
Manchester	1,107	530,292	0.20875
Tameside	385	221,692	0.17366
Preston	144	141,302	0.10191
West Lancashire	84	112,742	0.07451
Trafford	121	233,288	0.05187
Stockport	130	288,733	0.04502
St. Helens	71	177,612	0.03997
Burnley	33	87,371	0.03777
Rossendale	22	69,487	0.03166
Total Lancashire-12	332	1,191,691	0.02786
Hyndburn	11	80,228	0.01371
Knowsley	17	147,231	0.01155
Lancaster	16	142,283	0.01125
South Ribble	8	109,651	0.00730
Wirral	20	320,900	0.00623
Pendle	5	90,111	0.00555
Fylde	4	77,322	0.00517
Chorley	3	112,969	0.00266
Wyre	2	109,745	0.00182
Warrington	2	207,695	0.00096

Table 3. Asylum seekers as a proportion of Local Authority population. 2015.

³ The figure refers to the number of asylum seekers under Section 95 support.

The local picture

Lancashire is administratively divided into 12 district councils (Burnley, Chorley, Fylde, Hyndburn, Lancaster, Pendle, Preston, Ribble Valley, Rossendale, South Ribble, West Lancashire and Wyre) and has a population of approximately 1.2 million (12).

Unlike other areas in the North West, Lancashire has historically not been part of the asylum seekers' dispersal scheme. This, however, has changed in the last years and now all the districts have started to accommodate asylum claimants (See Figure 14).

Figure 14. Asylum seekers under Section 95 support in each district authority, 2011-2016.



Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (25).

Accommodation of asylum seekers has not been evenly divided across the 12 districts authorities in Lancashire. Preston, West Lancashire and Lancaster are the three areas accommodating larger numbers of asylum seekers in the county, with 177, 111 and 102 claimants receiving accommodation respectively during 2017 (See Figure 15).

Some districts councils, such as Fylde and Wyre, accommodate a small number of asylum seekers because they only joined the dispersal scheme recently, but it is expected that the number of asylum seekers accommodated in these districts will increase in the future.



Figure 15. Asylum seekers accommodated in Lancashire County Council, February 2017.

Source: Immigration Statistics, ONS (25).

In total, approximately 578 asylum seekers are currently accommodated in Lancashire, the majority of which are men.

Overall, in Lancashire, most of asylum seekers are single (60%). However, in all but four districts (Preston, West Lancashire, Lancaster and Fylde) there are more families than single asylum seekers.

It is also important to highlight that, whilst the majority of asylum seekers are single, there is also an important percentage of families whose health and social needs may be different. More detailed data regarding these groups, including their location and their socio-demographic characteristics is held by key stakeholders. However, it cannot be publicly accessed because low numbers mean that data could be identifiable, jeopardising the confidentiality of asylum seekers and refugees. For this reason such data has not been included in the report.

Literature Review

The literature highlights five key areas of need for asylum seekers and refugees:

Mental Health

Asylum seekers (AS) and refugees have often suffered traumatic experiences that have an impact on their mental health. There are three main areas of concern:

<u>Depression and anxiety</u>: There are contradictory findings in the literature regarding prevalence of depression and anxiety in asylum seekers and refugees.

Several qualitative and quantitative articles found that the difficulties and traumatic experiences that asylum seekers have been subject to are translated into an increased prevalence of these conditions when compared with the general population (13–15). Prevalence of depression and anxiety are also higher in AS that are waiting for their asylum claim to be completed compared with successful claimants that are granted refugee status (16). This reflects the impact of the asylum claim process on the mental health of AS.

A systematic review found that prevalence of anxiety, depression and, in particular, major depression is often exaggerated in asylum seekers. They suggest that rates of these conditions may not be that different from the general population (17).

These contradictory findings reflect the weaknesses of the evidence. To that limitation we need to add the fact that the populations under study are demographically different from the AS and refugees living in Lancashire, revealing the fact that the AS and refugee population is dynamic and changes rapidly accordingly to the resolution and emergence of conflicts around the world.

<u>Post-traumatic stress disorder (PSTD)</u>: PSTD is one of the main mental health conditions that affect asylum seekers and refugees. Systematic reviews suggest that asylum seekers are between ten and twenty times more likely to suffer PSTD compared with the general population (14,17). This is a consequence of premigration experiences such as war, violence and imprisonment. It is a long term problem that affects not only recently arrived asylum seekers, but also settled refugees (18).

<u>Suicide</u>: Asylum seekers have commonly witnessed violence with many suffering violence themselves, affecting their mental health (16). Studies have found increased rates of suicide amongst asylum seekers compared with the local population (19,20).

Communicable Diseases

Prevalence of communicable diseases amongst asylum seekers and refugees is uncertain. Data is not routinely collected and the evidence from research is weak. However, asylum seekers and refugees often come from countries affected by endemic diseases that we consider rare in the UK. Asylum seekers are therefore likely to reflect the prevalence of communicable diseases of their country of origin. <u>Vaccination</u>: Many countries have different vaccination schedules which do not comply with UK requirements.). Moreover, countries in conflict normally see a drop in vaccination rates. In Syria, for example, vaccination rates have dropped from 91% in 2010 to 45% in 2013.

Diseases that are rare in UK adults due to high vaccination rates may be more prevalent in asylum seekers and refugees. Studies carried out in Canada show that asylum seekers and refugees are more susceptible to MMR, DTP and Varicella compared with the general population, advising to screen for immunity and offer vaccination to all arrived asylum seekers and refugees (21).

<u>Hepatitis</u>: Hepatitis is an inflammation of the liver caused by a virus. There are five main hepatitis virus. Asylum seekers and refugees are especially susceptible to Hepatitis B (HBV) and C (HCV). HBV is highly prevalent in Africa, Middle East and South East Asia, where most of asylum seekers and refugees come from (22). A study carried out in Liverpool found higher risk of HBV amongst asylum seekers (23). In the same way, asylum seekers and refugees come from countries with high prevalence of Hepatitis C, such as east Africa and the Middle East.

<u>Tuberculosis</u>: Tuberculosis is an airborne transmitted disease that has a significant health impact on the people that suffer it. In many countries, there is stigma attached to the disease and its sufferers. The literature suggests that asylum seekers and refugees are more likely to have been exposed to tuberculosis in home country than the host country population because they come from countries with high rates of the disease (Figure 16) (24).

Screening for TB is already offered in the UK to those coming from countries where the prevalence is over 40 cases per 100,000 people. Those with a positive result are offered treatment (25).

Treatment of tuberculosis is long and complex, and low rates of GP registration and dispersal could affect follow up and compromise treatment (26).

The rates of tuberculosis in Syria are below 40 cases per 100,000 people, therefore routine screening for those coming under the resettlement programme is not required.

Figure 16. Estimated Tuberculosis incidence rates across the world in 2014. WHO



Source: WHO 2015(65).

<u>HIV/AIDS</u>: HIV/AIDS remains as a significant cause of health burden in many countries. Amongst asylum seekers and refugees, the prevalence of HIV is uncertain, but studies have found increased rates compared with host populations (27), suggesting that screening should be routinely carried out (28).

However, other authors have questioned the quality of the data and argue that there is no evidence that AS and refugees pose a threat to spread the HIV epidemic in host societies (29,30).

Adding to the physical effects of the virus, there is a stigma and discrimination attached to HIV, which may affect the individual's ability to seek support and services. Providing AS and refugees at risk with information about testing and HIV treatment could improve testing and acceptance of care (31).

<u>Malaria</u>: Malaria is a severe disease transmitted via mosquito bites. Although it is an endemic disease in many parts of the world, the literature advices against routine screening of the disease (31). Malaria is non-existent in Syria (32), so there is no need of screening the refugees coming under the resettlement programme.

Women's Health

<u>Contraception</u>: A study found higher rates of induced abortion in asylum seekers compared with the general population (33). The same study also found that language barriers prevent female asylum seekers to seek contraceptive advice. Canada's guidelines advice that AS and refugee women should be offered contraception of choice soon after entry (31).

<u>Cervical screening</u>: Female asylum seeker and refugees are likely to come from countries where routine cervical screening is not offered. In order to prevent cases of cervical cancer some countries offer the smear test when they arrived (31).

<u>Pregnancy</u>: Pregnant asylum seekers and refugees may have more complex antenatal care needs due to experiences such as female genital mutilation, hepatitis B, thrombocytopenia or psychological distress (33). They may also encounter difficulties accessing antenatal services, such as language or cultural barriers.

All these factors have an impact on the pregnant asylum seeker population. It has been documented that female asylum seekers often suffer worse pregnancy outcomes than the general population, including low intrauterine growth and post-natal depression (34,35).

Non-communicable Diseases

The majority of the research on AS and refugees has traditionally focused on communicable diseases and mental health disorders. However, non-communicable diseases are increasing worldwide and there is growing evidence of their impact on displaced populations. Research shows that Asylum seekers from certain ethnic backgrounds (Africa and South Asia) have higher prevalence of type 2 diabetes compared with the general population (31,36). Female asylum seekers and their children are also susceptible to iron deficiency, the commonest nutritional deficiency in the world (31,37).

Vision and dental health screening have been advised by other country's guidelines (31).

The needs of Syrian refugees in relation to non-communicable diseases need to be explored as they have been chosen based on vulnerability. Some of them will be older and therefore at higher risk of non-communicable diseases than young male asylum seekers. Syria is also a country that had a high prevalence of non-communicable diseases such as COPD, CVD and Type 2 Diabetes (38–40).

Wider Determinants of Health

The wider determinants affect the health of the population. These include lifestyle, community and social networks, the general socio-economic conditions and cultural and environmental conditions (41). These determinants affect asylum seekers and migrants in a different way than the hosting population, reflecting their complex situation (42).

<u>Lifestyle</u>: Asylum seekers and refugees often experience a process known as "acculturation". It refers to a change in attitudes and behaviours towards those that prevail in hosting society (42). The result includes higher levels of smoking, lower

levels of breast feeding and diets with a higher fat content, which can lead to acute and chronic diseases.

<u>Social Networks</u>: The settlement process usually involves social issues such as isolation, loss of social status and insecurity.

One of the main issues is lack of integration in the host society. There are various barriers for integration that have been identified in the literature (43,44), including:

- Lack of language skills
- Mobility
- Lack of knowledge of the system
- Services unable to meet their needs
- Hostile public attitudes
- Legal barriers to integration

<u>Housing</u>: Accommodation instability and poor housing conditions can have a negative effect in asylum seekers on refugee's health. Poor housing conditions have been associated with a diverse range of negative health outcomes, as well as the negative impact that it has on children's education (44).

<u>Access to Healthcare services</u>: It is well documented that asylum seekers and refugees are less likely to access healthcare services compared with the general population. Culture and language are considered the biggest barriers for access to care, but mistrust and lack of knowledge about the role of primary and secondary care services have been also found to have an effect (45,46).

<u>Education</u>: Education is an important determinant of health, with higher educated groups having lower self-reported poor health (47). Some studies have described that asylum seekers and refugees often have more difficulties accessing education than the general population, mostly due to lack of knowledge of entitlement (44).

<u>Employment</u>: Asylum seekers, unlike refugees, are not entitled to work until they have a positive outcome to their application. This can have a negative impact on their mental health (48).

Refugees, although entitled to work, have much lower levels of employment compared with host populations (49).

Working conditions are also important as a health determinant. Refugees and BME communities are known to have worse work conditions compared with the general population (44). Improving such conditions may have a positive impact in their health.

In summary, in order to maintain AS and refugee's health and wellbeing, the focus should not only be on medical diseases, but also modifying the wider determinants of health, such as housing, employment, education and lifestyle.

Current Service Provision

In Lancashire, there are various organisations involved in the care of asylum seekers and refugees. Table 4 outlines some of the organisations that participated in the stakeholder interviews.

Table 4. Some of the Agencies involved in the care of asylum seekers in Lancashire $^{1}\,$

Organisation	Area	Activities
District Local Authorities	All 12-districts	Approval of housing properties before asylum seekers arrive
Serco	All 12-districts	Providers of asylum seeker accommodation Resolution of housing issues Signpost AS to healthcare facilities in their area and other community services
British Red Cross	Preston	Weekly drop-in service Social activities
Pukar	Preston	ESOL
City of Sanctuary Global Link	Lancaster	Weekly Drop-in centre ESOL Social activities
Community Volunteer Services (CVS) Faith groups	West Lancashire	Weekly drop-in service ESOL Social activities
Maundy Relief Community Solutions North West AAWAZ YMCA	Hyndburn	Weekly drop-in service Counselling for asylum seekers Social activities Women support

The stakeholder interviews highlighted the complexity of asylum seekers and refugees' health and wellbeing.

They emphasised the importance of communication and collaboration between the different agencies that are involved in the care of asylum seekers. Experiences and challenges around housing, primary & secondary care access, mental health and social integration were also highlighted.

Communication and collaboration between agencies that are involved in the care of asylum seekers

Stakeholders felt that the needs of asylum seekers can only be met by collaborating and communicating effectively between the different agencies involved. In concordance with this view, all districts councils in Lancashire that accommodate asylum seekers hold a multi-agency forum with representation from the different key stakeholders, including:

- District council
- Police
- Serco
- Third sector organisations
- Clinical Commissioning Groups
- Migrant Help

The frequency of the forum varies between districts, depending on number of asylum seekers accommodated in the area. They typically take place every 3-4 months. The forum discusses how the different agencies meet the wellbeing needs of asylum seekers and refugees. The forum is also used to share experiences and coordinate action in different areas.

Most of stakeholders expressed satisfaction with the multi-agency forums. However, some perceived that the communication between agencies and particularly between districts could be improved. They felt that there is a general lack of awareness around how other districts are responding to the settlement of asylum seekers. It is perceived that sharing experiences and practices between districts could help to improve the care of asylum seekers.

Some stakeholders lack knowledge around the duties and responsibilities of the different agencies involved in the care of asylum seekers. Clarifying those responsibilities was perceived to be important to plan and improve the care of asylum seekers.

Housing

Housing was identified as a vital factor to meet the needs of AS and refugees and also an important determinant in the integration of these groups with the local communities.

In the North West, Serco is commissioned by the Home Office to identify and provide suitable accommodation for asylum seekers.

Initially, all AS are allocated accommodation in Liverpool until suitable housing is found in the local authorities that participate in the dispersal scheme.

Serco's function is to:

1. Identify and inspect accommodation. Serco inspects the potential properties to make sure that standards are appropriate. In order to improve integration with the local community, Serco's policy states that asylum seekers should not make more than 2% of the population in a ward. However, attempts are made to house

AS in relatively nearby areas so that they have access to community services such as drop-in centres within walking distance.

- 2. Any property that Serco classifies as suitable for housing asylum seekers has to be approved by the district council. This assessment normally occurs within five days to one week after the request. Once a property has been approved by the district authority, it can start housing asylum seekers.
- 3. Signposting to community services and orientation. When asylum seekers arrive to their new home, a Serco house officer gives them a tour around the city, signposting them to community services such as GP practices, food shops and third sector organisations.
- 4. Provision and discussion of the information book. All houses have an "information book" which includes information on health and community services in the area and how to access them. House officers are in charge of going through the book with the asylum seekers and solve any doubts that may arise.

Both AS and stakeholder interviews considered housing as one of the most important factors in the life of AS. During the interviews with the key informants it was found that:

- Generally, third sector organisations, district councils and asylum seekers expressed satisfaction with the housing standards and felt that their housing issues were assessed and solved rapidly and appropriately by Serco.
- For confidentiality issues, Serco is not allowed to share details around when and where asylum seekers are located within the district authority. This was seen as a barrier to help asylum seekers by some organisations in some districts, but not in others.
- Asylum seekers' housing is affected once a decision on their application is made. When the asylum claim has been processed, whether the outcome is positive or negative they have 28 days to vacate the property. Stakeholders felt that to organise and fund other suitable accommodation is challenging. Although the different agencies, such as Serco or third sector organisations, are flexible and supportive, stakeholders considered this to be a major issue and they felt that it contributed to refugees leaving Lancashire and seeking accommodation in big urban centres such as Liverpool or Manchester. Refugees feel that in this areas they are more likely to find support and temporary accommodation whilst they try to find a job or they start to receive welfare benefits.

Primary Care

Asylum seekers and refugees are entitled to full and free access to primary care services under the *Immigration and Asylum Act 1999*. However, primary care access was identified as an issue by stakeholders and asylum seekers in Lancashire:

- Stakeholders described how some GP practices and other primary care services were not aware of the entitlements of AS, resulting in poor access.
- Asylum seekers interviewed commented on their lack of knowledge about how the healthcare system works in the UK and how they should access it.
- Some asylum seekers were not aware of the information book that is provided by Serco and therefore lacked knowledge around how to access services.

- AS and stakeholders mentioned how some GP surgeries refused to either register them or offer appointments to asylum seekers because translation services were not available.
- In some areas, there is a lack of knowledge around who has responsibility over ensuring that AS are registered with a GP practice. Under Serco's contract, the company does not have responsibility over registering AS in the GP practice or make sure they attend any other community service.
- Some stakeholders perceive that asylum seekers and some third sector organisations should have a better understanding of the different primary care services and the role of such services, including GP surgeries, dental practices or pharmacies.
- There were concerns raised around dental health access. Asylum seekers are entitled to free dental care. It was described how some asylum seekers lacked the knowledge of how to access those services and some dental practices were not aware of AS entitlements, which resulted in AS attending A&E for dental issues that could have been dealt in primary care.

Secondary care access

Asylum seekers are also entitled to full free access to A&E and other secondary care services, but stakeholders and AS raised concerns and issues on:

- Health professionals awareness of entitlement
- Access Transport has been identified as an important barrier of access to hospital appointments and other secondary services. Asylum seekers have to live with £36 per week, so transport's costs are unaffordable. In addition, if the appointment is in a hospital located in other town or city, they often do not know how to use the public transport to access it. This may result in asylum seekers missing the appointment, which is detrimental for their health. There are cases of volunteers from third sector organisations taking AS to the hospital with their own private transport.
- Asylum seekers are given a HC2 form during the initial screening at London which entitles them to free NHS prescriptions. Some issues regarding these forms were raised. In some cases, the forms had expired and AS did not know how to renew them. In others, AS were charged in spite of having a valid form.
- All asylum seekers are screened for communicable diseases when they arrive to the initial accommodation centre in Liverpool. School age children have their vaccination status checked as well.

The screening is carried out by Urgent Care 24 (UC24).

When an asylum seeker is dispersed into another area, further follow-up appointments are forwarded to their new address. However, transport can be a barrier to attend those further appointments.

Mental Health

As it has been discussed, asylum seekers are at higher risk of developing mental health problems compared with the general population. Ensuring appropriate access
to services is therefore important to maintain their health and wellbeing. Stakeholders identified the following issues:

- Access to mental health services. They perceive that asylum seekers do not receive the support they need, in spite of having signs of mental distress.
- Asylum seekers often struggle to seek help for mental health issues
- Some third sector organisations offer, on a volunteer basis, counselling for asylum seekers, this is not widespread in all the districts. Some perceived that such services will be unable to cope with the demand if the number of asylum seekers increases.
- Some providers feel that the front-line staff working with asylum seekers lack the understanding of how mental health services work and what the different routes of access are.
- Some stakeholders feel that trauma services are inaccessible to asylum seekers, as the system has not adapted to their singular situation.

Wider determinants of health

Integrating in the community and creating strong social links is vital to maintain asylum seekers and refugees' wellbeing. This is particularly important whilst the claim is being processed. During that time, AS are not allowed to work and they are exposed to the stress caused by the uncertainty of the claim outcome, both having a negative impact on their health. During the interviews with asylum seekers and key informants, some factors were identified as barriers towards integration and creation of social links:

- Language was identified as a major barrier as many AS lacked good English communication skills. Asylum seekers can only access English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) after 6 months of being resident in the country. They are also required to fund 50% of the course. Different third sector organisations organise weekly ESOL lessons to respond to access difficulties. These lessons rely on volunteers, therefore raising concerns of sustainability and continuity.
- Transport was identified as an important barrier that prevents engagement of asylum seekers with the wider community. They cannot afford the costs of transport to the different community activities or events.
- Some asylum seekers expressed that social isolation is leading to frustration, spending long hours at home, which affects their mental wellbeing. They expressed their keenness to do sports and take part in social, cultural and sport activities, but as most of the Lancastrian districts have only recently started to house asylum seekers, they are still in the process of building and maintaining such regular activities.

Limitations

There are a number of limitations that need to be taken into consideration.

1. Data on asylum seekers and refugees at a district level is not publicly available to protect their confidentiality and therefore was not used in this

report. Therefore, the local picture of asylum seekers is not as detailed as it could be.

- 2. GP data could not be interrogated as the current systems do not record whether a person is an asylum seeker.
- 3. Due to the large number, a sample of stakeholders and asylum seekers were interviewed. Lancashire County Council covers a large area and there are several organisations working with asylum seekers. Some districts have contributed more to this HNA than others. However, the recommendations are likely to be generalisable to all of them.

Discussion and Recommendations

The findings of this Health Needs Assessment are drawn from the insights of a sample of key informants and asylum seekers. The results suggest that, overall, the experiences of asylum seekers living in Lancashire have been satisfactory.

The asylum seekers interviewed enjoyed living in the area and were grateful with the positive response of the community.

It was evidence the high level of dedication of volunteers who, working through various organisations and faith groups, dedicate their free time to help asylum seekers. Their work makes a substantial impact on helping to meet health and wellbeing needs of asylum seekers and refugees that would otherwise be unmet.

In the same way, other agencies involved, such as district councils, healthcare organisations, Serco, Lancashire County Council and the police, show compromise and determination to help asylum seekers to integrate in the community and to solve any issue that they may encounter during their arrival to the county.

However, the health needs of asylum seekers are complex and stakeholders identified areas of improvement. The challenges faced by providers in Lancashire are similar to those faced in other parts in the UK and Europe. Access to healthcare services has already been described as an issue in the literature. Here, in Lancashire, asylum seekers described how they are occasionally refused access to the services. Mental health services was another area where stakeholders perceived that the needs of asylum seekers are not met. Asylum seekers are known to be at risk of mental health disorders such as PTSD as a result of the stressful and difficult experiences they have been through. Early recognition and treatment of mental health conditions is vital to improve outcomes.

Asylum seekers are generally young adults who are not allowed to work and that are going through a stressful period of time whilst their claim is processed. Creating social links and participating in different activities is vital to avoid social isolation and the mental health problems that are associated with it. Asylum seekers and stakeholders described language and transport as two of the main barriers to community participation.

Finally, once the claim is completed, asylum seekers are given 28 days to vacate the property. In this time, asylum seekers struggled to obtain the income needed to fund accommodation elsewhere. Stakeholders perceived that this put them at risk of destitution and homelessness.

Recommendations

1. Improve access to healthcare

Issue	Recommendation	responsible organisation
Access to Primary Care services	 Steps are taken to ensure that asylum seekers understand how and when to access primary care services after induction. Ensure that GP surgeries, dental practices and pharmacies are aware of asylum seekers' entitlement to full free access 	1. Serco 2. NHS England
Access and referrals to Mental Health services	 Improve awareness of the presentation of mental health issues that are common in asylum seekers. Review mental health care pathways for asylum seekers, with specific focus on trauma services. 	 Third sector, Serco. CCGs and LCFT
Access to secondary care services	Ensure secondary care providers are aware of asylum seekers' entitlement to full and free access to services.	CCGs

2. Improve provision of healthcare services

Issue	Recommendation	Responsible organisation
Interpretation and translation services	Ensure that primary care services arrange appropriate, high quality translation services as per NHS England and GMC advice (50,51).	NHS England
Communicable-diseases	Use PHE's Migrant health checklist as a guide for the first appointment in GP practices (See Appendix 5).	NHS England/CCGs
Family planning and GUM clinics	Ensure that information around how and when to access these services is available during induction and at the drop-in sessions	LCC/Serco/Third sector

Issue	Recommendation	Provider
Physical activity	Sustain regular physical activities (e.g.	Third sector
-	weekly football) as a way to improve	organisations
	physical and mental wellbeing	
Adult Learning	Explore the provision of Adult learning	Lancashire County
	services, including ESOL, to asylum seekers.	Council
Transport	Explore possible solutions to facilitate	Lancashire County
	accessibility of services to asylum seekers.	Council
Wellbeing	Continue to build networks within and	All stakeholders
	between districts that create social	
	activities for asylum seekers.	
Destitution	Develop support plans for asylum seekers	Lancashire County
	that become refugees and are at risk of homelessness and destitution.	Council/Third sector organisations

3. Wellbeing

4. Progress of recommendations

The recommendations outlines above need to be situated in the context of projects that have been, or still are, developed to tackle some of the issues.

- 1. In the summer of 2016 Serco started to ensure that all newly arrived asylum seekers are registered with a GP practice. This is by housing officers accompanying asylum seekers to the practice and help them to register.
- 2. In Rossendale, Serco and GP practices are working together to set up an automatic clinical appointment as soon as any asylum seeker arrives to the area. If successful, it is hoped that this system will be spread out to the rest of the districts.
- 3. In some districts, such as West Lancashire, the community is adapting to the quick arrival of asylum seekers. Third sector organisations, working with the district authority and other partners are developing regular social and physical activities that will be offered to asylum seekers in order to avoid social isolation and to improve integration with the local communities.

References

- 1.
 UNHCR Asylum Levels and Trends in Industrialized Countries, 2014 [Internet]. [cited

 2017
 Feb
 16].
 Available
 from:

 http://www.unhcr.org/uk/statistics/unhcrstats/551128679/asylum-levels-trends industrialized-countries-2014.html
- 2. The Guardian. Migrants, refugees and asylum seekers: what's the difference? | World news | The Guardian [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/aug/28/migrants-refugees-and-asylumseekers-whats-the-difference
- 3. United Nation. Convention relating to the status of refugees (including text of 1967 protocol). 2010.
- 4. UK Government. Claim asylum in the UK [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/claim-asylum/decision
- 5. Home Office. Syrian Vulnerable Person Resettlement (VPR) Programme. Guidance for local authorities and partners. s.l. 2015.
- 6. International Migration and Multicultural Policies. Glossary: Migrants and migration [Internet]. 2016. Available from: http://www.unesco.org/most/migration/glossary_migrants.htm
- 7. United Nations. United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families. 1990.
- 8. United Nations. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights.
- 9. UK Visas & Immigration. Information about your asylum application. s.l. 2016.
- 10. United Nations High Comissioner for Refugees. Global Trends. Force displacement in 2015. 2015.
- 11. UNHCR. UNHCR Figures at a Glance [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: http://www.unhcr.org/figures-at-a-glance.html
- 12. Office for National Statistics. Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/p opulationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandand northernireland
- 13. Vostanis P. Meeting the mental health needs of refugees and asylum seekers. Br J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2014 Mar 1 [cited 2016 Mar 12];204(3):176–7. Available from: http://bjp.rcpsych.org/content/204/3/176
- Bernardes D, Wright J, Edwards C, Tomkins H, Dlfoz D, Livingstone A. Asylum Seekers' Perspectives on their Mental Health and Views on Health and Social Services: Contributions for Service Provision Using a Mixed-Methods Approach. Int J Migr Heal Soc Care [Internet]. 2011 Nov 4 [cited 2016 Apr 8];6(4):3–19. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-

79955000733&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

- 15. Bogic M, Njoku A, Priebe S. Long-term mental health of war-refugees: a systematic literature review. BMC Int Health Hum Rights [Internet]. 2015 Jan [cited 2016 Feb 16];15:29. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4624599&tool=pmcentr ez&rendertype=abstract
- Kalt A, Hossain M, Kiss L, Zimmerman C. Asylum Seekers, Violence and Health: A Systematic Review of Research in High-Income Host Countries. Am J Public Health [Internet]. 2013 Mar [cited 2016 Jan 11];103(3):e30–42. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84874119911&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- Fazel M, Wheeler J, Danesh J. Prevalence of serious mental disorder in 7000 refugees resettled in western countries: a systematic review. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. 2005 Jan [cited 2016 Jan 29];365(9467):1309–14. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-17044372775&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- Bogic M, Ajdukovic D, Bremner S, Franciskovic T, Galeazzi GM, Kucukalic A, et al. Factors associated with mental disorders in long-settled war refugees: refugees from the former Yugoslavia in Germany, Italy and the UK. Br J Psychiatry [Internet]. 2012 Mar [cited 2016 Apr 8];200(3):216–23. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22282430
- Cohen J. Safe in our hands?: a study of suicide and self-harm in asylum seekers. J Forensic Leg Med [Internet]. 2008 May [cited 2016 Mar 10];15(4):235–44. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-41949132958&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- Athwal H, Bourne J. Driven to despair: asylum deaths in the UK. Race Cl [Internet].
 2007 Apr 1 [cited 2016 Apr 8];48(4):106–14. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-33947252809&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 21. Greenaway C, Dongier P, Boivin JF, Tapiero B, Miller M, Schwartzman K. Susceptibility to measles, mumps, and rubella in newly arrived adult immigrants and refugees. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2007;146(1):20–4. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-33846915749&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 22. Owiti JA, Greenhalgh T, Sweeney L, Foster GR, Bhui KS. Illness perceptions and explanatory models of viral hepatitis B & C among immigrants and refugees: a narrative systematic review. BMC Public Health [Internet]. BioMed Central Ltd.; 2015 Jan [cited 2016 Mar 15];15(1):151. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84928668597&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 23. Aweis D, Brabin BJ, Beeching NJ, Bunn JE, Cooper C, Gardner K, et al. Hepatitis B prevalence and risk factors for HBsAg carriage amongst Somali households in Liverpool. Commun Dis Public Health [Internet]. 2001;4(4):247–52. Available from:

http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-0035552255&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

- 24. UK Government. The Immigration and Asylum (Provision of Accommodation to Failed Asylum-Seekers) Regulations 2005. 2005.
- 25. Tuberculosis screening GOV.UK [Internet]. [cited 2017 Feb 16]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tuberculosis-screening
- Stagg HR, Jones J, Bickler G, Abubakar I. Poor uptake of primary healthcare registration among recent entrants to the UK: a retrospective cohort study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2012 Jan 6 [cited 2015 Nov 25];2(4):e001453-. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/2/4/e001453.full
- 27. Pottie K, Janakiram P, Topp P, McCarthy A. Prevalence of selected preventable and treatable diseases among government-assisted refugees: Implications for primary care providers. Can Fam Physician [Internet]. 2007 Nov [cited 2017 Feb 16];53(11):1928–34. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18000270
- Stauffer WM, Kamat D, Walker PF. Screening of international immigrants, refugees, and adoptees. Prim Care [Internet]. 2002 Dec [cited 2017 Feb 16];29(4):879–905. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12687898
- 29. Spiegel PB. HIV/AIDS among Conflict-affected and Displaced Populations: Dispelling Myths and Taking Action. Disasters [Internet]. 2004 Sep [cited 2017 Feb 16];28(3):322–39. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15344944
- Spiegel PB, Bennedsen AR, Claass J, Bruns L, Patterson N, Yiweza D, et al. Prevalence of HIV infection in conflict-affected and displaced people in seven sub-Saharan African countries: a systematic review. Lancet (London, England) [Internet]. Elsevier; 2007 Jun 30 [cited 2017 Feb 16];369(9580):2187–95. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17604801
- 31. Pottie K, Greenaway C, Feightner J, Welch V, Swinkels H, Rashid M, et al. Evidencebased clinical guidelines for immigrants and refugees. CMAJ [Internet]. 2011 Sep 6 [cited 2016 Jan 18];183(12):E824-925. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-80052596520&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 32. WHO. Syrian Arab Republic. WHO statistical profile [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2016 Apr 11]. Available from: http://www.who.int/gho/countries/syr.pdf?ua=1
- Kurth E, Jaeger FN, Zemp E, Tschudin S, Bischoff A. Reproductive health care for asylum-seeking women - a challenge for health professionals. BMC Public Health [Internet]. BioMed Central; 2010 Dec 1 [cited 2017 Feb 16];10(1):659. Available from: http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2458-10-659
- 34. Bakken KS, Skjeldal OH, Stray-Pedersen B. Immigrants from conflict-zone countries: an observational comparison study of obstetric outcomes in a low-risk maternity ward in Norway. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth [Internet]. BioMed Central Ltd.; 2015 Jan [cited 2016 Mar 15];15(1):163. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-84939436670&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

- 35. Collins CH, Zimmerman C, Howard LM. Refugee, asylum seeker, immigrant women and postnatal depression: rates and risk factors. Arch Womens Ment Health [Internet]. 2011 Feb [cited 2016 Mar 15];14(1):3–11. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-79751530929&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 36. Kinzie JD, Riley C, McFarland B, Hayes M, Boehnlein J, Leung P, et al. High Prevalence Rates of Diabetes and Hypertension Among Refugee Psychiatric Patients. J Nerv Ment Dis [Internet]. 2008 Feb [cited 2017 Feb 16];196(2):108–12. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18277218
- 37. Prinzo ZW, de Benoist B. Meeting the challenges of micronutrient deficiencies in emergency-affected populations. Proc Nutr Soc [Internet]. 2002 May 27 [cited 2017 Feb 16];61(2):251–7. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12133207
- World Health Organisation. Syrian Arab Republic. Non-communicable diseases. Country profiles [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2016 Apr 11]. Available from: http://www.who.int/nmh/countries/syr_en.pdf
- 39. Kherallah M, Alahfez T, Sahloul Z, Eddin KD, Jamil G. Health care in Syria before and during the crisis. Avicenna J Med [Internet]. Medknow Publications; 2012 Jul [cited 2017 Feb 16];2(3):51–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23826546
- 40. Ward KD, Eissenberg T, Rastam S, Asfar T, Mzayek F, Fouad MF, et al. The tobacco epidemic in Syria. Tob Control [Internet]. BMJ Group; 2006 Jun [cited 2017 Feb 16];15 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):i24-9. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16723671
- 41. Dahlgren G, Whitehead M. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. Background document to WHO - Strategy paper for Europe. 1991 Jan 1 [cited 2016 Apr 11];14(2007:14). Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/5095964_Policies_and_strategies_to_pro mote_social_equity_in_health_Background_document_to_WHO_-__Strategy_paper_for_Europe
- 42. Kirmayer LJ, Narasiah L, Munoz M, Rashid M, Ryder AG, Guzder J, et al. Common mental health problems in immigrants and refugees: general approach in primary care. CMAJ [Internet]. 2011 Sep 6 [cited 2015 Oct 19];183(12):E959-67. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-80052526465&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- Communities and local government. Creating the conditions for integration [Internet]. [cited 2016 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/75 04/2092103.pdf
- 44. Ager A, Strang A. Understanding Integration: A Conceptual Framework. J Refug Stud [Internet]. 2008 Apr 18 [cited 2016 Jan 18];21(2):166–91. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-45149098956&partnerID=tZOtx3y1

- 45. O'Donnell CA, Higgins M, Chauhan R, Mullen K. Asylum seekers' expectations of and trust in general practice: a qualitative study. Br J Gen Pract [Internet]. 2008 Dec [cited 2016 Apr 11];58(557):e1-11. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-57749092689&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 46. O'Donnell CA, Higgins M, Chauhan R, Mullen K. "They think we're OK and we know we're not". A qualitative study of asylum seekers' access, knowledge and views to health care in the UK. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2007 Jan [cited 2016 Apr 11];7:75. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-34250314515&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 47. Montazeri A, Goshtasebi A, Vahdaninia M. Educational inequalities in self-reported health in a general Iranian population. BMC Res Notes [Internet]. BioMed Central; 2008 Jan 21 [cited 2016 Apr 11];1(1):50. Available from: http://bmcresnotes.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1756-0500-1-50
- Silove D, Sinnerbrink I, Field A, Manicavasagar V, Steel Z. Anxiety, depression and PTSD in asylum-seekers: Associations with pre-migration trauma and post-migration stressors. Br J Psychiatry [Internet]. 1997;170(APR.):351–7. Available from: http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-0030998263&partnerID=tZOtx3y1
- 49. Cebulla A, Daniel M, Zurawan A. Spotlight on refugee integration: findings from the Survey of New Refugees in the United Kingdom - horr37-report.pdf [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2016 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11 6062/horr37-report.pdf
- 50. NHS England. PRINCIPLES FOR HIGH QUALITY INTERPRETING AND TRANSLATION SERVICES [Internet]. Available from: https://www.england.nhs.uk/commissioning/wpcontent/uploads/sites/12/2015/03/it_principles.pdf
- 51. Nigel's surgery 20: Translation and interpretation services | Care Quality Commission [Internet]. [cited 2017 Feb 16]. Available from: http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/nigels-surgery-20-translation-and-interpretationservices
- 52. European Union. Dublin III regulations. 2013.
- 53. Home Office. Return home if you're in the UK illegally or have claimed asylum [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/return-home-voluntarily
- 54. UK Government. UK Immigration and Asylum Act 1999.
- 55. Asylum Support Partnership. Applying for asylum support. 2012.
- 56. Gower M. Asylum support': accommodation and financial support for asylum seekers. 2015.
- 57. UK Government. Asylum support. What you'll get [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/asylum-support/what-youll-get

- 58. Department of Health. Guidance on implementing the overseas visitor hospital charging regulations. 2015.
- 59. Office H. Humanitarian Protection. 2013.
- 60. Home Office. Asylum Policy Instruction. Discretionary Leave. s.l. 2015.
- 61. UNHCR. UNHCR Population Statistics [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: http://popstats.unhcr.org/en/overview#_ga=1.40902370.1936056318.1464875298
- 62. UK Government. Working in the UK while an asylum case is considered [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-whilst-an-asylum-claim-isconsidered/working-in-the-uk-whilst-an-asylum-case-is-considered
- 63. Eurostats. Asylum statistics [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Asylum_statistics
- 64. National Statistics. Immigration statistics, April to June 2016 [Internet]. [cited 2016 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-april-to-june-2016
- 65. WHO | Global tuberculosis report 2015. World Health Organization; [cited 2016 Apr 11]; Available from: http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/en/

Appendices

Appendix 1

The search was conducted via the electronic database "Scopus", using the key term "asylum seeker" OR refugee*" in combination with the following key terms, using Boolean operators and wildcard characters: "health need*", "mental health", "communicable disease*", "depression", "PTSD OR post traumatic stress disorder*", "vaccin*", "maternal health", "sexual health", "chronic disease*", "communicable disease*", "isolation", "integration", "*culture*", "pregnan*", "education*", "employ*", "social*", "access*".

Some research articles on the reference list of papers listed for review were also included.

The focus was on qualitative and quantitative studies in the last 10 years, with a special focus on UK papers. However, older articles were also included if they were considered relevant.

Along with the e-journal search, grey literature reports and papers were also searched via websites of relevant organisations such as: WHO, Home Office, Department of Health, Public Health England, UNHCR, and Refugee Action.

Previous health needs assessments carried out in Liverpool, Wigan and Wakefield were also used in the review as well as in the discussion section.

Initial application

As it has been discussed, any individual fearing persecution in their own homeland can apply for asylum in other country.

In Europe, according to the EU Dublin III Regulation, the country where an asylum claimant files the application must be the only country that processes the claim (52). Exceptions include those individuals who have a relative residing in other EU country. In those cases, family union takes priority and they should be allowed travel to the country where their relative is residing and have their application processed there.

In the UK, initial asylum applications usually occur immediately after arrival, taking place at airports, seaports or the Asylum Intake Unit (AIU) located in Croydon, London.

After making the application, the AIU carries out an initial asylum screening to determine whether the UK is the country that should process the claim.

Asylum screening

The asylum screening normally takes part at the AIU and last approximately 4 hours. The screening is used (1):

- To gather biometric information (e.g. fingerprints).
- To carry out security and identity checks
- To assess if the asylum seekers requires accommodation
- To gather information about the asylum seeker's reasons for fleeing their country and the journey before they arrive to the UK.

At this point, if it is decided that the UK is not the appropriate country to process the claim, the asylum seeker might be detained and removed from the country.

If the asylum claim is accepted, asylum seekers are offered accommodation where they will wait until they are called for the next step, the asylum interview.

AS are given at this stage an Application Registration Card (ARC) or a Standard Acknowledgement Letter (SAL) which serve as identity cards for asylum seekers during the claim process.

Asylum interview

Soon after the screening, asylum seekers are assigned a caseworker, who will be the person deciding the outcome of the claim.

In order to determine the legitimacy of the asylum claim, the caseworker carries out an individual interview with the asylum applicant.

In these interviews, asylum seekers are inquired about the details of the persecution they suffered in their home country as well as about the fears that they have of going back (1).

Any supported evidence is taking into consideration. The whole process lasts around six months before an outcome is decided.

Outcome

Following the asylum interview and after all the evidence has been assessed, the caseworker will decide the outcome of the claim. Asylum seekers are allowed to stay in the UK if they are granted with refugee status, humanitarian protection or discretionary leave to remain.

If the outcome of the claim and the further appeals are negative, the failed asylum seekers are obliged to leave the country.

To do so, the Home Office gives them two options (4):

- 1. They can voluntarily return to their home country. If refused asylum seekers need financial help to return to their home country they can apply for the "Assisted Voluntary Return (AVR)" scheme. This scheme offers the applicants cash support (2,000£) to go back and settle in their home country (53).
- 2. Be forcedly removed from the UK. This may involve detention at an immigration removal centre.

Accommodation

Section 95 of the *Immigration and Asylum Act (1999)* stablishes that asylum seekers at risk of destitution are entitled to accommodation from the moment they submit their application at the AIU (54).

The accommodation is offered immediately after the screening on a non-choice basis. Initially, asylum seekers are placed in an "accommodation centre" before they are dispersed into their permanent address for the duration of the process (55).

There are various initial accommodation centres in the UK. In the North West, the initial accommodation centre for all asylum seekers in the region is located in Liverpool.

If the asylum claim is unsuccessful, failed asylum seekers at risk of destitution are provided temporal accommodation until they either leave the country or their situation is resolved (24).

By contrast, successful claimants who are given leave to remain are not entitled to accommodation. They are normally given a period of 28 days to leave the property they are living at. Those with leave to remain are, however, eligible to apply for the same welfare benefits than any other resident of the UK.

Cash Support

Financially, asylum seekers are entitled to cash support, which they can collect on a weekly basis at the post office.

The amount of cash given to asylum seekers has changed recently in August 2015, and it is now a fixed amount of 36.95£ per week (56).

If the asylum seeker's application is refused, they are still entitled to support under Section 4 of the 1999 Act. The support is given in the form of a card that is topped up weekly with 35.93£ per week. The card can only be used in certain retailers and can only buy essential materials such as food, clothing and toiletries (57).

As with accommodation, cash support is stopped if asylum seekers are granted leave to remain. From that moment, however, they are entitled to apply to main stream welfare benefits if they need income support.

Employment

Asylum seekers are not entitled to work whilst their claim is being processed unless the process lasts for over 12 months. In the same way, failed asylum seekers are not entitled to work^{*}.

By contrast, those who have been granted refugee status have the same right to work than any other citizen of the UK.

^{*} Unless the failed asylum seeker is submitting new pieces of evidence to support a new claim (62).

Healthcare access

The latest guidance issued by the Department of Health determine that refugees, asylum seekers and failed asylum seekers receiving support under the 1999 act are entitled to have full access to primary and secondary NHS services free of charge (58). Asylum seekers and failed asylum seekers are also eligible to have a NHS certificate for full help with health costs (HC2) that grants them free access to dental care and prescriptions.

Refugees are also entitled to free NHS care, but they will only receive free NHS dental care and prescriptions if they fulfil the general criteria.

Asylum seekers are allowed to remain in the UK if they receive one the following outcomes once their claim has been processed:

- Refugee status: If the caseworker decides that the asylum seeker qualifies for asylum. He/she will be granted with refugee status. This gives the person leave to remain in the UK for 5 years, after which the refugee can apply to settle in the country (1).
- Humanitarian Protection: Granted when the asylum seeker does not qualify for asylum, but there are substantial grounds to believe that he/she could be at risk of serious harm if returning to the home country (e.g. death penalty, unlawful killing...). A person granted with humanitarian protection is given leave to remain for five years, after which they can apply to settle in the UK (59).
- Discretionary Leave: Only granted in very limited circumstances (e.g. an unaccompanied child seeking asylum) when the claimant does not qualify for asylum and if there are no reasons for humanitarian protection. The length of time that the person is given to remain is decided on a case by case basis, but the leave to remain does not normally exceed 30 months (60).

Pre –appointment	Country of Birth
	Migration history (others countries lived in)
	Reason for migration (Work/Study/Family/Asylum/Refugee)
	Date of arrival in the UK
	Language and dialect spoken - is an interpreter required? Ensure interpreter is of the same sex.
	Cultural sensitivity eg. female GP or chaperone required
	Disability
Routine New Patient Health	Past Medical History
Check	Medication
	□ Allergies
	Family History
	Social History
	Height and Weight
	Urine – diabetes and kidney function
	Blood pressure
	Lifestyle - Alcohol/Smoking/Physical Activity
	Full Vaccination History. Checked against the PHE Incomplete immunisation schedule.
Review Country-Specific	PHE Migrant Health Country Specific Guide
Health Issues	Risk of <u>Communicable Diseases</u>
	Nutritional or Metabolic considerations
	Ethnicity and increased risk of health problems
General Health	Dental Health
	Vision and Hearing (including child screening)
	 Explain UK health screening programmes (Cervical/Breast/Bowel/Diabetic Eye Screening, Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm AAA) when appropriate
	 Be alert to signs of neglect or physical abuse
Sexual Health	Sexual Health history
	Sexually Transmitted Infections
	Contraception needs

Mental health	Consider mental wellbeing needs and assessment
	 Be aware of PTSD, depression, anxiety and underlying mental health disorders
Orientation	Explain how to access healthcare and services
	(GP, Urgent Care, Pharmacy, A+E)
	Referral to health and third sector